WOOH

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 23 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 92,458

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

onol No. 32, 130

JOSE M. CORTEZ & ALEXIS RODRIGUEZ,

Petitioners,

-vs-

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit of
Florida
1320 Northwest 14th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-1961

MARTI ROTHENBERG Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 320285

Counsel for Petitioners

INTRODUCTION

This is the initial brief on the merits of the petitioners/defendants Jose Cortez and Alexis Rodriguez on conflict jurisdiction from the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.

Citations to the record are abbreviated as follows:

- (R) Clerk's Record on Appeal
- (A) Appendix attached hereto of Third District's decision

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The petitioners/defendants (hereinafter defendants) were charged by information in Miami Dade County on May 1, 1996, with burglary of an unoccupied structure in violation of §810.02, Florida Statutes (1995), and grand theft of a chainsaw valued over \$300 but less than \$5,000 in violation of §812.014(2). (R: 1)

On March 26, 1997, the defendants filed a motion to suppress evidence from an illegal seizure, arrest and search. (R: 29-43, 79) Specifically, the defendants argued the police had no reasonable suspicion to temporarily detain them and no probable cause to arrest them for loitering and prowling. (R: 35-42) The defendants were arrested for loitering and prowling after a citizen called police to report a suspicious white car and two men parked

at his neighbor's house; by the time the officer arrived, the men were gone. The defendants were arrested about an hour later several blocks away when their car, which matched the description of the white car, ran out of gas and another officer stopped to help them and realized they matched the description.

The hearing on the motion to suppress took place on April 15, 1997. (R: 76) At the hearing, only 3 police officers testified; the neighbor did not testify. The state's first witness was Officer Murias who testified that on April 10, 1996, at about 12:30 to 1:00 p.m., he was on routine patrol in the residential area of western Miami Dade County when he encountered both defendants. 82, 92) Officer Murias testified he was driving north on SW 87th Avenue and made a left turn onto 16th Street and saw the defendants parked on the south side of the road facing eastbound. (R: 82-83) The officer did not stop the defendants' car; the car was already stopped and the officer drove up to them without flashing lights. (R: 82-83, 100) Officer Murias testified the defendants' car was parked on the grassy swale beside the road, the grassy swale being an area where cars could pull over if needed to get out of the flow of traffic. (R: 83, 93) He admitted it was not an improper place for the defendants to be. (R: 93) He described the area as a normal middle class residential area. (R: 94) Both defendants

were out of the car, they had a gas can and it "looked like they were putting gasoline into their vehicle." (R: 83, 93) According to the officer, "It looked like they needed some help, so I just came back to see if I could be of assistance." (R: 83)

Officer Murias parked his patrol car behind the defendants' car, got out and walked towards them. (R: 83) He asked what was wrong and whether he could be of any assistance. (R: 84) The defendants replied they had run out of gas and they "were trying to get some gas." (R: 84, 93) Officer Murias asked them where they were headed and they said they were going to a friend's house. (R: 84) The officer asked them the address and they could not give him the address or the name. (R: 84, 104) The officer offered his assistance and they said, "No, it's all right. We're just," you know, "we'll get some gas for the car." (R: 84) Officer Murias walked around the car and noticed a chainsaw in the backseat; he asked the driver who it belonged to and he replied his father. (R: 105) Since the car was registered to the defendant's father, the officer did not consider this suspicious. (R: 105-107)

Officer Murias asked them again if they lived close by and asked them for their ID's so he "could do a Field Interrogation Card." (R: 84, 95) Both men were cooperative and gave him their ID's. (R: 84, 95) According to Officer Murias, he looked at their

ID's and saw "that they didn't live in the area," so he asked them again "where their friend lived, if they lived close by, maybe I could call the friend to come over and help them out, and they couldn't give me any information on that." (R: 84)

Officer Murias testified that "since they didn't live in the area, I just advised them that I was going [to] check them out, see if everything was all right." (R: 85) When the prosecutor asked the officer if he "asked" them if he could check them out, Officer Murias replied: "Well, I advised them that I was going to do this. And they agreed with this, said fine no problems, We have no problems." (R: 85) Officer Murias testified he did not detain the defendants, but that he told them "that as soon as I finish checking them out and filling these things [a Field Interrogation Card], they could leave. I told them. . . . If I check you out and everything comes back, you will be allowed to leave. You can leave. You go ahead and leave." (R: 97) Officer Murias admitted the two defendants were not free to leave until he got back all the information and finished writing down all the information on his Field Interrogation Cards and that the defendants could not leave because he had their ID's and was keeping them until he finished obtaining all his information. (R: 100-101)

Officer Murias returned to his car and started to check both

ID's over the radio and write a Field Interrogation Card. (R: 85)

He said this was standard procedure "when you find people that

don't live in the area, and they can't give you, you know, basic

description of information what they are doing in the area, we do

that." (R: 85) Officer Murias admitted there were no crimes being

committed in his presence at that time and that he never saw the

defendants commit any crimes in his presence. (R: 95, 103)

The radio check advised the officer that both defendants had "a past, substantial past," a "felony misdemeanor past" but no outstanding warrants. (R: 85, 95) At that point, the officer looked at his notes and saw there had been a suspicious vehicle BOLO issued about 20 to 30 minutes earlier of two males in a white Toyota close to the area:

- Q. [by prosecutor] So did you give -- Did you proceed to check their ID's over of the radio?
 - A. Yes, I did.
 - Q. And what did you find, if anything?
- A. I believe both came back with a past, substantial past.
 - Q. And what did you do at that point?
- A. Well, at that time I just looked at my notes, and I saw that there had been a BOLO issued as far as two a suspicious vehicle in the area.

And it was a Toyota, white in color. I don't remember if I had the tag down or not. And it was two males. And it was fairly close to the area where they were. So I contacted the officer that was handling the signal. (R: 85-86)

The officer admitted the BOLO was not for any violation of law. $(R: 107)^{1}$

Officer Murias said he had received the BOLO about 20 to 30 minutes prior to encountering the defendants. (R: 86) He had heard the BOLO over his police radio and had written it down at that time "just in case I came up on the subject." (R: 86, 91) He admitted he was not looking for the men mentioned in the BOLO at the time he encountered the defendants. (R: 91) He admitted that he was driving somewhere else when the saw the defendants and that when he pulled his patrol car up behind the defendants, he was not thinking of or "using in his mind" any of the BOLO information.

Although Officer Murias indicated at the suppression hearing that he thought the BOLO also described the suspicious activity, how the car had backed up into the driveway of a house and one man had gotten out and looked into the window of the house, then fled the scene, Officer Ramos testified he was the officer who issued the BOLO and that he did not include any of this activity in the BOLO because the BOLO had to be kept short. (R: 104-106, 116-117) Officer Ramos stated he only sent out the description of the car, that there were two males and that it was a possible burglary. (R: 116-117) The judge specifically found the testimony of Officer Murias on this issue to be not credible. (R: 54; T: 211, 218)

(R: 91)

Officer Murias testified the defendants were in a white Toyota and since "the vehicle more or less matched the description, after I looked at the BOLO, I wasn't very sure, so I had the dispatcher raise Officer Ramos, which was the one handling the signals," for him to stop by. (R: 87-88, 96) Other police arrived at the scene but it took Officer Ramos about 20 to 30 minutes to arrive. (R: 88, 97)

During the 20 to 30 minutes it took for Officer Ramos to arrive, Officer Murias was filling out his Field Interrogation Cards. (R: 97-98) According to the officer, the defendants never indicated they wanted to leave. (R: 88) Officer Murias admitted he told them they were free to leave only after he finished checking them out - so long as everything came back okay. (R: 97-101) He said he was not "detaining" the defendants, but that they could not leave because he had their ID's and was still filling out his Field Interrogation Cards and had not yet received back all the information he needed to complete the cards, that it took time to get back all the information and write it all down. (R: 97-101)

About 20 to 30 minutes later, Officer Ramos arrived on the scene, looked at the car looked at the defendants and "wasn't very sure if they matched the description of the BOLO," so he went back

to get the neighbor witness. (R: 89) Officer Ramos told Officer Murias: "I will go back and bring the witness by. I'll see if they match. If not, we're going to let them go." (R: 98) Officer Ramos returned a few minutes later with the civilian witness in the back of his patrol car; this was the neighbor who had called in the suspicious activity that formed the BOLO. (R: 89, 99) The witness identified the defendants' car, but could not identify the defendants, only that "that the subjects more or less fit the description." (R: 89, 99) The police then contacted the general investigation detectives to respond to the scene and Detective Montero and Detective Crespo arrived later and arrested them for loitering and prowling. (R: 89, 101)

The defendants were transported to the police station for loitering and prowling. (R: 101-103) Officer Murias admitted he never saw the defendants commit any crimes in his presence and never saw them commit loitering and prowling in his presence. (R: 103, 107)

The next witness at the hearing was Officer Ramos. (R: 108)

He testified that he was dispatched to 8915 SW 17th Terrace at 1:04

p.m., in reference to "a suspicious vehicle with two males." (R: 110, 114) The dispatch was for "a white Toyota Corolla, older model, '83, '85, two-door with a Florida tag." (R: 110) Officer

Ramos drove to the location and found an unoccupied house, no white car, no men and no burglary. (R: 111, 117-118) checked the house and found no evidence of a burglary and no evidence of tampering; the door was locked, the windows were locked, they were not broken, there were some marks on the door but as he said, "it was hard for me to tell at that moment if they were new or old. Most doors have some sort of mark on them somewhere." (R: 118-119) The neighbor who had called in the complaint was cutting his lawn in front of his house and told Officer Ramos that the car had "backed up into the driveway of this neighbor's house, which he knew that his neighbors were not home. That one male stayed by the car, and another one went by the, by the door by the front of the house. That he could hear him calling out in Spanish Mister, Mister, anybody home, anybody home, and he was knocking loud on the door." (R: 111-112) The neighbor said that when one of the men saw him, they rushed to the car and "left in a hurry." (R: 112) Officer Ramos's testimony as to what the neighbor told him is as follows:

- Q. [by prosecutor] Okay. When you arrived at this house in question, what do you observe?
- A. I drove up to the house. The house was unoccupied. The vehicle was no longer there. A neighbor, who insisted on remaining

anonymous, and he had advised that, he was the one that had called the police.

The neighbor was the house immediately west of the house I was dispatched to.

MS. REGO: [prosecutor] Hold on one second.

THE COURT: Go ahead. Continue.

THE WITNESS: And this man was the neighbor witness, the anonymous complainant who was outside on the yard, working on, actually mowing the lawn. He was cutting grass.

And I advised that, yes, he had called; and that there was a car, a white small car, same description. And the car had backed up into the driveway of this neighbor's house, which he knew that his neighbors were not home.

That one male stayed by the car, and another one went by the, by the door by the front of the house. That he could hear him calling out in Spanish Mister, Mister, anybody home, anybody home, and he was knocking loud on the door.

- Q. BY MS. REGO: Okay. The neighbor who told you this, once he gave you this information, what did you do?
- A. Once he gave me the information and I agreed that it was something suspicious, mainly because it continued. And he told me that once the man, or the male that was by the car, saw him he called the other male that was by the, by the front of the house, he called him and this person rushed to the car, and they both like left in a hurry.

So therefore, I issued a B.O.L.O. that's a "be on the lookout" over the air for the vehicle and occupied by the two subjects. (R:

111-112)

On cross examination, Officer Ramos repeated that the extent of the information that had been given him by the neighbor was that the neighbor saw a car backing into the driveway, two men got out of the car, knocked on the door, and called out "Mister, Mister":

- Q. [by defense attorney Forman] Now, after you got to the, to the residence, is that the time which you first encountered the witness in this case?
 - A. Yes.
 - Q. He was mowing the lawn?
- A. He was outside in the front of his house.
- Q. Okay. Now, what he told you was, which is you have related to us that he saw a car backing into the driveway, two individuals get out of the car, knocking on the door, yelling or saying senior, senior, or Mrs., Mrs., something like that?
 - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. At no time did he relate to you that these individuals had broken into the house, did he?
 - A. He didn't see.
 - O. He didn't see.
- Q. He didn't see. He didn't see these individuals take anything either, did he?
 - A. He couldn't see. He didn't see.

- Q. And that was the extent of information that he gave?
- A. That was the extent of the information, yes. (R: 119-120)

The neighbor did not see the men break into the house or take anything. (R: 120, 127) Officer Ramos testified that the neighbor never told him that he had seen the men commit any crime, any burglary or theft of any property:

- Q. [by defense attorney Ardura] When you went and talked to the victim, did the victim -- Strike that. Did the witness inform you at any time that he had observed them commit any violation of law whether it be Breaking and Entering or Grand Theft, or anything on the property of the neighbor?
 - A. He did not. (R: 127)

THE COURT: I have one other question of the officer. Officer, I believe you testified that based on the information that, that the witness who will remain nameless, gave you, he has not stated that any crime had been committed as far as you know; is that correct? Is that your testimony?

THE WITNESS. That's correct. He did not observe any, them actually breaking or doing anything in the house.

THE COURT: So the statement of the witness to you say perform anything suspicious in your own mind as to any activity on the part of anyone regarding this incident, even though he had not described the commission of

any crime?

THE WITNESS: Yes, and also, and I think it's pertinent, the house in question has a lot of shrubbery, and has deep hedges, and is fairly tall.

It is not like the front of the house was open to plain view from where the, from the other side, or even from -- You can not just drive by and see. Like some houses are totally open up front.

This one has the carport, which is part of the structure. And then it has a wall, which is inside. And then has some large big hedges and shrubbery all around the front, which is like I say a circular driveway.

So the witness did not have a very good view of this. (R: 130-131)

Officer Ramos thought the neighbor's description of the men's acts was suspicious enough to issue a BOLO, so he called the dispatcher and issued a BOLO of a "possible burglary" with a "suspicious vehicle that fled, that left the area" with two males.

(R: 112, 116) Officer Ramos stated that he did not include in the BOLO any of the activity that he was told about the car backing up into the driveway or the person getting out and looking inside the window of the house, and said that this was specifically not included because they had to keep the BOLO short, with only vehicle and person descriptions and type of possible offense. (R: 112-113, 116-117) Moreover, there was no information in the BOLO from first-hand police knowledge; the BOLO was strictly information

relayed to him by the neighbor. (R: 123-124)

After putting out the BOLO, Officer Ramos learned that a car was stopped that possibly fit the BOLO description. (R: 113) He responded to the scene where Officer Murias was detaining the defendants and saw that the car fit the description the neighbor had given him. (R: 113, 122) He thought some of the clothing, the white T-shirt and jeans, also fit the description. (R: 113) The officer went and picked up the neighbor and brought him back to the scene; the neighbor identified the car as the car he saw, but he could not identify the defendants other than that they looked like the persons. (R: 114, 122) Officer Ramos admitted the defendants committed no crime in his presence. (R: 122-123, 126)

The last witness was Detective Garcia. (R: 135) He testified that he was at the police station between 1:30 and 2:00 p.m., that afternoon and received a call to meet the defendants when they were brought into the station under arrest for loitering and prowling. (R: 136, 143) Detective Garcia went out to the house that afternoon, but could not locate the owner and could not determine if there had been any breaking and entering. (R: 137-138) The neighbor advised him of what he had seen, but the neighbor did not see the men enter the house or take anything. (R: 139, 144) Detective Garcia remained there until the owner returned home later

that afternoon about 5:00 p.m. (R: 140) The owner advised him that a chainsaw was missing from the carport and that prymarks on the door were fresh. (R: 140-141) Detective Garcia testified he returned to the police station and met with the two defendants; after taking their statements, he arrested them for burglary later that evening about 7:30 p.m. (R: 141-142, 145-146)

The neighbor who called the police to begin with did not testify at the hearing. The state rested and the parties argued the motion. (R: 148) The state admitted there was no stop and that the defendants were doing nothing illegal and were not loitering and prowling at the swale where they were putting gas in their car. (R: 148, 153) The state's position was that the police had reasonable suspicion and the right to temporarily detain the defendants for loitering and prowling until Officer Ramos and his neighbor witness came to the swale, and when the neighbor identified the car, even though he could not identify the defendants, the police then had probable cause to arrest them for loitering and prowling and to continue to detain them pending evidence of a burglary. (R: 164-167, 181)

At the conclusion of the hearing, the judge found the police had no probable cause to arrest the defendants for loitering and prowling, which was a misdemeanor offense not committed in their presence. (R: 55, 218) The judge found the arrest for loitering and prowling was being used as an illegal pretext to continue detaining the defendants until probable cause for burglary could be established. (R: 55, 218) The judge found there was no other reasonable suspicion or probable cause to detain the defendants for any other purpose. (R: 50-55) The court suppressed the evidence and statements from the defendants that flowed from the illegal arrest. (R: 55, 218)²

The state appealed the order to the Third District Court of Appeal. (A: 3) On January 28, 1998, the Third District issued its decision reversing the order and finding no Fourth Amendment violation. (A: 1-8) In its decision, the Third District found there was probable cause to arrest the defendants for the misdemeanor offense of loitering and prowling. (A: 3-5) The Third District specifically found the warrantless arrest of the defendants for loitering and prowling was legal even though the police officers did not personally observe the offense being

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