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

statements in the case from the defendants and later arrested the defendants for burglary. (R. 141-142).

The prosecutor for the State summarized the facts for the trial court. The prosecutor elaborated that after Officer Murias realized that the vehicle matched the description given in the B.O.L.O., a temporary detention at roadside took place. State submitted that Officer Murias' actions were reasonable since he had a match to the B.O.L.O. In addition, the prosecutor argued that the suspects were unable to provide a name or address to where they were allegedly going. Officer Murias, the State argued, was correct in temporarily detaining the suspects in order to get further corroboration. (R. 154). The prosecutor continued that when Officer Ramos brought the civilian witness to the scene and that witness made the identification, there was then probable cause for the officers to detain the suspects by taking them to the police station in order to investigate a possible burglary. (R. 156). There was then probable cause to involve the general investigation unit, Officer Garcia, to investigate. (R. 156-157). Officer Garcia investigated the scene, spoke to the civilian witness, the next door neighbor, and then the homeowner. As a result of the investigation he

interviewed the suspects at the police station, took their statements and made a formal arrest for burglary. (R. 158-159).

The prosecutor later reiterated that probable cause arose at the point that the witness identified the car, and was able to identify certain features of the suspects, such as clothing and hair. (R. 165).

The trial court ultimately found that there was no probable cause to arrest the defendants for loitering or prowling, that the arrest was pretextual for the purpose of allowing Detective Garcia sufficient time to speak to the property owner/victim when he arrived home from work for the more serious charges of burglary and grand theft. The court also found the arrest of the defendants for loitering and prowling illegal and held that the evidence and statements which flowed from the illegal arrest should be suppressed. The trial court suppressed the defendant's confession and the chain saw which was recovered from the defendant's vehicle. (R. 45-55, 219).

The State filed a motion for rehearing or reconsideration of the motion in limine which was denied. The State appealed to the the Third District Court of Appeal. On January 28, 1998, the Third District issued its decision reversing the order and finding no Fourth Amendment violation. (A. 1-8). The Third

District concluded that there was probable cause to arrest the defendants for the offense of loitering and prowling pursuant to Florida Statute 856.021 (1997). The Court citing to State v. Russell, 659 So. 2d 465, 468 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (citations omitted), Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 175-176 (1949) and Cross v. State, 432 So. 2d 780, 782 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), contended that "probable cause to arrest exists when the totality of the facts and circumstances within the officer's knowledge would cause a reasonable person to believe that an offense has been committed and that the defendant is the one who committed The Court reasoned that the neighbor saw the defendants back their car into the victim's enclosed carport. noted that as a general matter, a homeowner may be deemed to extend an implied invitation to legitimate visitors to approach the house by use of the sidewalk, and to park the car in the driveway or at the roadside. But certainly, there is no implied invitation for a stranger to park his car in a homeowner's enclosed carport and peer in the windows. The Third District stated that "the unusual step of backing the car into the carport would (a) facilitate loading of the truck unobserved, (b) prevent the license plate from being read from the street, and © allow a speedy departure if needed. (footnote omitted). Upon seeing that

the neighbor was watching, defendants did not approach the neighbor to ask the whereabouts of the homeowner. Instead, defendants took flight. In the subsequent roadside encounter with Officer Murias, defendants lied about their destination and reason for being in the area. Whether or not the pry marks are taken into consideration, the officers had probable cause to arrest the defendants for loitering and prowling." (A: 4).

The Third District noted that the defendants argued that in this Court's decision in State v. Ecker, 311 So. 2d 104, 111 (Fla. 1975) cert. den. 423 U.S. 1019, 96 S. Ct. 455, 46 L.Ed.2d 391 (1975), this Court determined that only an officer's own observations may be considered in determining whether probable cause existed to make a warrantless arrest for loitering and prowling. The Third District stated that this was not so. Ecker decision, according to the Third District, actually established that a prosecution for loitering and prowling can be based on citizen witnesses even if the arresting officer did not observe the defendant commit the offense. The Third District noted that Ecker was a consolidated appeal in which one defendant, challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to support his conviction for loitering and prowling. 311 So. 2d at 111. (A: 6).The Third District noted that the citizens involved in Ecker, who called the police and who were concerned about the defendant's presence in the area did not testify in the case. The Third District noted that in <u>Ecker</u>, this Court found that it was necessary for the citizen witnesses to testify in person at trial, because the hearsay rule prohibited the officers from repeating what the citizen witnesses had said. (A: 7)

In the instant case, by contrast, the Third District noted, the trial court proceeding was an evidentiary hearing on a motion to suppress evidence. Hearsay is admissible in such a proceeding, Lara v. State, 464 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 1985), and the officers' testimony about what the neighbor and victim said came in without objection. (A. 7). The Third District further noted that the trial court erroneously felt that the officers were not allowed to arrest the defendants for the misdemeanor of loitering and prowling when the officers suspected and were continuing to investigate a possible burglary. The Court contended that the fact that the officers suspected more serious crimes did not detract from the probable cause that existed to arrest for the misdemeanor offense. (A: 7-8). The Third District reversed the order under review and remanded the cause for further proceedings. (A: 7-8).

The defendants petitioned this Court for discretionary review based on conflict jurisdiction. This Court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District's opinion in the instant case is not in conflict with any of the loitering and prowling cases cited by the defendant. Those cases do not even cite or discuss Florida Statute 856.031, even though it is directly on point. The decision does not create conflict of controlling precedent by applying the correct statute to the facts at hand, Florida Statute 856.031. The defendants were apprehended at roadside, and most assuredly would have escaped if the officers had left to obtain a warrant. The warrantless arrest was therefore, authorized by Florida Statute 856.031.

The Third District correctly noted that the legislature should, at least, cross reference Florida Statute 856.031 in Section 901.15, Florida Statutes, since the cases frequently overlook that statute. Florida Statute 856.031, regardless, has been recognized as authority on this same issue, for almost thirty years. See Florida Attorney General Opinion 072-379-October 30, 1972.

Defendant's contention that the officers were not entitled to make a warrantless arrest for the misdemeanor offense of loitering and prowling because the misdemeanor was not committed in the officers' presence is not valid since defendant relies on such cases as <u>Steiner v. State</u>, 690 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), which, on the basis of section 901.15(1), Florida

Statutes, held that an officer cannot make a warrantless arrest for the misdemeanor of loitering and prowling where the officer did not personally observe the misdemeanor. If the officer did not observe the misdemeanor, then section 901.15, in general, doesn't authorize the officer to make a warrantless arrest. The <u>Steiner</u> decision, and other cases relied upon by the defendant, are not based upon Florida Statute 856.031, as is the case at hand, and as such, there is no conflict. The defendants in this case were apprehended at roadside, and would have escaped if the officers had left to obtain a warrant. The warrantless arrest, in this case was authorized by Section 856.031

The State would respectfully submit that the record establishes that there was probable cause to arrest the defendants for the offense of loitering and prowling. The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL ON THE SAME ISSUE OF LAW, AND FURTHER FLORIDA STATUTE 856.031 DOES AUTHORIZE THE DEFENDANT'S ARREST FOR LOITERING AND PROWLING.

The defendants argue that the Third District's decision reaches a different result than other Florida loitering and prowling arrest cases. The defendants argue that the legal underpinning of the loitering and prowling arrest cases (D.L.B. v. State, 685 So. 2d 1340, 1342 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996); K.R.R. v. State, 629 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); Freeman v. State, 617 So. 2d 432, 433 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), reversed and discharge ordered, Freeman v. State, 634 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); G.E.C. v. State, 586 So. 2d 1338, 1340 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); Lucien v. State, 557 So. 2d 918 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), <u>T.L.F. v. State</u>, 536 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) and Springfield v. State, 481 So. 2d 975, 977 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) is Florida Statute 901.15(1). The defendants argue that the legal underpinning of the loitering and prowling arrest cases is Section 901.15(1) of the Florida Statutes but that the Third District, nevertheless, relied upon Section 856.031, Florida Statutes, which has never been cited as authority on this issue by any Florida loitering and prowling case. In a footnote,

the defendants acknowledge that one loitering and prowling cases does, in fact, cite to Section 856.031, but notes that the propriety of that Section was never discussed in the case.

In Florida Attorney General Opinion 072-379-October 30, 1972, the following questions were posed:

- 1. In order for a law enforcement officer to be authorized a "suspected loiterer or prowler" under the authority of Florida Statute 856.031, must the officer have probable cause to believe that the arrested person is a loiterer or prowler within the contemplation of Florida Statute 856.021?
- When the person to be arrested pursuant to said Florida Statute 856.031 has left the scene by the time the officer arrives, may the officer arrest such person within a reasonable time and within a reasonable distance away from the scene upon the basis of credible hearsay information?

Both questions were answered in the affirmative. Clearly, almost thirty years ago, Florida Statute 856.031 was recognized as authority on this same issue.

A review of the Third District's decision, in any case, makes clear that the decision does not expressly and directly conflict with the cases relied upon by the defendants, as cited above. The above aforementioned cases as the Third District properly noted do not cite or even discuss Florida Statute 856.031. This, however, does not invalidate this section which clearly authorizes a warrantless arrest and which is directly on point with the facts at hand. Florida Statute 856.031 provides as follows:

856.031 Arrest without warrant--Any sheriff, policeman, or other law enforcement officer may arrest any suspected loiterer or prowler without a warrant in case delay in procuring one would probably enable such suspected loiterer or prowler to escape arrest.

In the instant case, the defendants were apprehended at roadside, and as the Third District noted, would have escaped if the officers had left to obtain a warrant. The warrantless arrest, was clearly authorized by Section 856.031. The Third District correctly applied the statute and in a footnote noted that the decided cases frequently overlook Florida Statute 856.031, and as

such, the legislature should, at the least, cross reference it in section 901.15, Florida Statutes. (A: 6).

The Third District properly concluded that there was probable cause to arrest the defendants for the offense of loitering. The Third District contended that "probable cause to arrest exists when the totality of the facts and circumstances within the officer's knowledge would cause a reasonable person to believe that an offense has been committed and that the defendant is the one who committed it." State v. Russell, 659 So. 2d 465, 468 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)

The facts in the case reveal that minutes after receiving a B.O.L.O. announcement, the police noticed the defendant's car alongside the road. The officer stopped to render assistance as the defendants appeared to be adding gasoline to their vehicle. The defendants explained to the police that they needed gas. They also informed the officer that they were on the way to visit a friend nearby, but when the officer offered to call the friend, the defendants did not know the friend's name or address. Finding this suspicious, the officer asked for identification. The police computer revealed no outstanding warrants, but the defendants appeared to match the description of the suspects given in the B.O.L.O. Officer Murias, contacted Officer Ramos who was the

author of the B.O.L.O., who brought the neighbor to the roadside location. According to the B.O.L.O., a suspicious white Toyota had backed up into the driveway and then the carport of a house. of the subjects had gotten out of the vehicle and had looked into the window of the house. On page three of their brief, defendants argue that the Third District erred in finding that the neighbor observed the defendant's back their car into the victim's enclosed carport. The defendant's argue that there is no evidence that the car was backed into the enclosed carport. The State would point to page 105 in the record, where Officer Murias testified that the suspicious vehicle had "backed up into the driveway of a carport of a house" (R. 105). In any regard, as the Third District properly noted, a homeowner may be deemed to extend an implied invitation to legitimate visitors to approach the house by use of the sidewalk, and to park the car in the driveway or at the roadside. The State would respectfully submit that there is no implied invitation for a stranger to park his car in a homeowner's carport, enclosed or otherwise, and peer in the windows. Upon seeing that the neighbor was watching them, the defendants did not approach the neighbor to ask the whereabouts of the homeowner, they instead jumped into their vehicle and fled the scene. (R. 105).

In the subsequent roadside encounter with Officer Murias, the defendants lied about their destination and the reason for being in the area. The Third District properly noted that whether or not the pry marks were taken into consideration, the officers had probable cause to arrest the defendants for loitering and prowling.

(A: 5).

The defendants argue that the offense of loitering and prowling must be committed in front of a police officer in order for the suspected loiterer and prowler to be arrested for that offense without a warrant. They argue that the decision conflicts with <u>Steiner v. State</u>, 690 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). Steiner, however, unlike the instant case, on the basis of Section 901.15(1), Florida Statutes, the court held that an officer cannot make a warrantless arrest for the misdemeanor of loitering and prowling where the officer did not personally observe the misdemeanor offense and relied instead on a report by a citizen witness. That case, and the others relied upon by the defendant, however, reached that result because subsection 901.15(1), Florida Statutes, authorizes the warrantless arrest of a person who "has committed a felony or misdemeanor...in the presence of the officer." If the officer did not observe the misdemeanor, then section 901.15, in general, does not authorize the officer to make a warrantless arrest.

The Third District, in this case, relied on Section 856.031, Florida Statutes, not Section 901.15. The warrantless armrest was properly found to have been authorized by section 856.031, as will be explained herein in greater detail. As such, the decision in Steiner, and the other loitering and prowling cases cited by the defendant, were relying on a completely different statute, do not conflict with the case at hand.

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